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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYS!CAL APPEARANCE

Built in 19208, the Gazette Building is a threes-storey structure of reinforced
concrete and with terra-cotta decorative effect. The building is almost
square, measuring 140 feet by 150 feet. The floor space of the building is
15,660 square feet and covers a quarter of one block. The building features
a flat roof and projecting cornice. The most significant feature of the
building is the. exterior embellishmen®. Terra-cotita relief ornamentation
exhibits the inflluence of Louis Henry Sullivan in its floral and fruit design.

At the time of its construction, the Gazette Building was recognized as the
finest newspaper bullding in the South. In 1908 it was constructed of the
most fireproof and durable materials. Seven thousand barrazls of concrete
were used in construction.

The south and west elevations are similar in appesarance. The two main en-
trances, located on the south and west elevations are marked by segmental-
arched doorways supporteéd bv Ionic-capital columns of marble. These doorways
feature the name of the building and the date of construction.

A naryow band of terra-cotta fret-work surrounds the west and south elevations
between tha first and second storeys. Almost’ all of the decorative features
are located above this line-on the second- and third-storey levels. Two—
storey, three-sided bays mark ‘these two top stories. The spaces betwean the
second~ and third-storey windows on the bays feature terra-cotta fruit clusters.
Miniature engaged Doric—capital columns separate the three windows on each

bay. Large engaged fluted Ionic—capital columns separate the bays. The frieze
features wide scroll brackets above each of the Ionic columns. Bas-relief
ornamentation of terra-cotta is located under the coping of the roof, above
each bay. The cornice features a pattern of vertical, rectangular-shaped
gouged patterns. Terra-cotta lion heads are found on the cornice above each
of the brackets. Leaflike decorations of terra-cotta project above the cor-
nice.

Interiors harmonize with the exterior of the building. Fleoors in the first-
floor corridors are of white tile. The walls are lined with Italian marble
wainscotting. Extensive modernizing for ‘business purposes has altered the
interiors. Alterations to the axterior focus on the first floor windows,
which have been only slightly modified, The Gazette Building has been well
preserved and is in excellent condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANGE

The significance of the Gazette Building lies in two main areas. Architectur-~
ally, the building merits distinction. Built in 1908, the Gazette Building is
constructed of reinforced concrete and ornamented .. with terra-cotta. The
first storey is treated as a base, supporting Ionic columns which project up-
ward through the second and third.storeys. Between the columns are three-~sided
bay windows which also span the height of the second and third storeys. The
Gazette Building rests on 2 quarter of a block in Little Rock's downtown busi-
ness district. '

The Gazette Building was built by one of Little Rock'’s most honcred citizers,

‘Peter Hotze. Hotze was a native of Innsbrnick, hustria, and had been a resident

of Little Rock since 1857. For many years he was a prominent figure in busi-
ness affairs of the city and was identified with the commercial activity and
development of Little Rock. The Hotze family owned the Gazette Building until..
1936. George R. Mann, architect of the Arkansas State Capitol (added to the
National Register 6-28-74), designed the Cazette Building. Mamn is credited
with designing several complex structures in S5t. Louis and Little Rock.

The Gazette Building was an investment in the future of Little Rock's business
enterprise by men who had sufficient confidence in that future. Construction
of the building has been atknowledged as marking the beginning of a new era

in downtown Little Rock. Shortly after 1908 a number of business buildings
were erected and existing buildings were remodeled, transforming the incongruous
business district .into an organized and architecturally impressive area.

The Gazette Building is historically significant in its representaticn of the

Arkansas Gazette newspaper, which is the oldest newspaper west of the Mississippi

River. The development of the Arkansas Gazette has been coincident with the
development of the state. Arkansas politics and the Gazette have been inter-
lacei?. The Gazette has been the voice of Arkansas since its establishment in
1819. '

The founding of the Gazette and its development and growth are dve to William
E. Woodruff. The history of the newspaper is entertwined with Woodruff's
history. William E. Woodruff was born in Suffolk County, Long Island,New York,
in 1795. From the time the% he began serving his appreaticeship in a printing
office in Brooklyn in 1809, Woodruff was actively engaged in the newspaper
business for Fifty vears. In 1817 he left New York and started wesiward to
"seek his fortune."™ In West Virginia Woodruff secured a cance and traveled to
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Louisville, Kentucky, from where he walked to Nashville, Tennessee. After
working in the newspaper business for a year in Nashville, Woodruff decided
to move to the newly created Rrkansas Territory and establish his own news-
paper. Before leaving Nashville he purchased a small printing press and
other necessary eguipment, which he carried by keelboat and dugout to Arkansas
Post; he arrived at his destination on October 31, 1819. The population of
Arkansas Post in 1819 numbered only around one hundred. Arkansas Territory
contained a population of 13,000 and contained two post offices and one mail
route, ' ' :

The Arkansas Gazette started in a2 small log cabin consisting of two rooms, the
largest of which was fifteen by eighteen feet. The first icsue of the Gazette
was published on Saturday, November 20, 1319. Woodruff was editor, publisher,

writer, proofreader and pressman. The paper was published weekly,on Saturdays,

and the subscription price was $3.00 per year.

In the Spring of 1820 Woodruff was appointed printer for Arkansas Territory
by the General Assembly; thus the Gazette became the official newspaper in

the Territory. In 1821 when the séat - of territorial govermment was moved

to Little Rock, Woodruff moved his office to the new capital city and con-
tinned publication of the newspaper. The first issue published in Little

Rock was dated December 29, 1821. That the Gazette was always a power in ter-

ritorial affairs can be attributed to Woodruff.

Woodruff's influence continued after Arkansas became a state. 1In 1836 he was
elected first Treasurer of the sState of Arkansas. He continued to publish
the Gazette until 1838 when the paper was sold to Edward Cole. In 1846
Vioodruff established the Arkansas Pemocrat and in 1850 purchased back the
Gazette and consolidated the two papers under the name Arkansas Gazette and
Democrat. The latter part of the new name was soon dropped and the paper
continued under its original name of the Arkansas Gazette.

Not until 1853 was Woodruff able to retire permanently from the publishing
business. He died in Little Rock in 1885 at the age of ninety.

The Arkansas Gazette has continued to be the voice of Arkansas, and with a
present daily subscription of 121,135, it is the most widely read newspaver
in the state. '

The Gazette has achieved many honors,among which the most notable are the

J. P. Zenger Award, the designation of the Gazette Building as an historic site
in journalism by Sigma Delta Chi and, in 1958, two Pulitzer Prizes. The
Gazette is the only newspaper to ever win two Pulitzer Prizes in one year.
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Although reccgnized as an architecturadlly significant structure, the primary
significance of the Gazette Building lies in its representation of the
Arkansas Gazette, the oldest newspaper west of the Mississippi.
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(To replace Item 8, Page 2)

Although recognized as an arshitecturally significant structure, the
primary significance of the Gazette Building lies in its representation
of the Arkansas GazetEe, the oldest newspaper west of the Mississippi
still in publicatien.

1. The following material was taken from pages 8 and 9, footnote
#25 in Margaret Ross' Arkansas Gazette, The Early Years 1813-1866.

"25. That the Arkansas Gazette was the first paper
published in Arkansas stands unchallenged. The clainm
that it is the oldest newspaper west of the Mississippi
is equally indisputable today, but has been made in
the past when it was indefensible. In a historical
sketch in tha Gazetis on November 20, 1869, William
E. Woodruff, Jr. wrote, "Comparatively few papers in
the countyy can boast s0 long an existence - perhaps
not more than twenty - and ours is certainly tha
oldest west of the Yississippi, which has been published
continuously by the same name.” Later writers often
ignored the qualifications of continuous publication
and title, which at that time made the claim inaccurate.

Earlier newspapers published in Missouri were: The
Missours Gazette, established at St. Louis on July 12,
1808 by Joseph Charless, had several changes in title,
the last keing the Republic, and suspended with its

sale to the Clobe-Cemocrat on December 4, 1919: the
Western Journal, established at St. Louis in the spring
of 1Bl5 by Joshua Norvell, succesded early in 1817 by
the Emigrant and General Advertiser, started at 5t. Louis
on May 17, 1816 by Sergeant Hall and discontinued in
August, 1818; succeaded by the Enquirer without change
in volume numbering, established by Isaac N. Henry and
Evarist Maury, discontinued in 1829; the Missouri
Intelligencer, and Boon's Lick Advertiser, established
April 23, 1819 at Franklin by Nathaniel Patten and
Benjamin Hollidey, moved to Fayette in 1826 and to
Columbia in 1830, had several changes in title and one
merger and suspendad publication as the Herald-Statesman
on June 20, 1938, being correctly called the oldest
paper west of the Mississippi at that time; The Missouri
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Herald, established at Jackson on June 25, 1819 by Tubal
E. Strange, became the Independent Patriot with its sale
to Stephen Remington in 1820, and may have continued
under other titles until about 1835.

Little is known cf the four papers published earlier
than the Gazette in that part of Iouisiana lying west
of the Mississippi. El Mexicano is credited to both
Matchitoches, Louisiana and Nacogdoches, Texas, and its
only known extant issue is dated June 19, 1813. The
Iouisiana Planter was established April 17, 1810 by
Benjamin Stokes at Alexandria. The Red-River Herald
was published at Alexandria by Thomas Eastin, and the
only issuz located is Vol.I, new series, No. 4, dated
Septenmber 10, 1813. The Louisiana Herald was established
about October, 1818 by George F. Tennery at Alexandria.

Three newspapers earlier than the Gazette were published

in Texas, not then a part of the United State§. They

were: Gaceta de Texas, the organ of the Gutierrez-

Magee Expedition, edited by William Shaler and Jose

Alvarez de Toledo, printed in Spanish in May, 1813,

probably published no more than one or twa numbers;

El Mejicano by the same men and for the same purpose,

also published only one or two numbers; Texas Republican
started at Nacogdoches on August 14, 1819 by General

James Long as the organ of his expedition to establish a
Texas republic, and suspended in October, 1819 with the
defeat of Long's forces., See James Melvin Lee, "Early
Journalism West of the Mississippi,” Gazette Supplement,
November 20, 1919, 46; Brigham, American Newspapers, I, 182,
183, 431-434; Walter Prescott Webb {(ed.), The Handbook of
Texas (Austin: The Texas State Historical Assn., 19523, 11,
276; William H. Taft {(comp.), Missouri Newspapers: When and
Where 1803-1963 (Columbia, Mo.: The State Historical Society
of Missouri, 1964), 35, 48, 51, 71, 72, 151-152, 159-160, 165,
170,
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